FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/18/2022 4:57 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/19/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100940-2

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 54409-1-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## **State of Washington**

V.

#### **Damian Belander**

\_\_\_\_

Skamania County Superior Court Cause No. 19-1-00007-2

The Honorable Judge Randall C. Krog

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY** 

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870

backlundmistry@gmail.com

##

#### **INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

At Damian Belander's murder trial, the State improperly introduced evidence that he cut off questioning during a custodial interview. Furthermore, the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by repeatedly impugning defense counsel's integrity. Finally, Mr. Belander was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to prejudicial material that should have been excluded. Mr. Belander's convictions must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial.

#### **DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED**

Petitioner Damian Belander asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on April 26, 2022 (attached). This case presents three issues:

- 1. Were Mr. Belander's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights violated by the admission of a recording that included his invocation of his right to remain silent?
- 2. Was Mr. Belander's due process right to a fair trial violated by arguments that his attorney was trying to mislead jurors and to confuse them with "smoke and mirrors"?

3. Was Mr. Belander denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel by his attorney's failure to object to inadmissible evidence?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In January of 2019, heroin user and dealer Brian Bodle used a truck of one of his customers. The truck was towed, angering the truck's owner and the other heroin dealer whose money Bodle had also lost. RP 659, 685, 694-698; CP 260-261. During that time, acquaintances had accused him of stealing and making threats, and one person even tried to beat him up. CP 260-261.

On January 24<sup>th</sup>, his body was found about 30 or 40 feet from a burnt van in a remote area of Skamania County. RP 444, 449, 462, 1174, 1199. Police searched the van and the area around it, but did not find any footprints or fingerprints. RP 710-729. Later, they determined that the burned van was linked to Damian Belander. RP 628-630, 587-590, 596-597, 600, 743-745.

Mr. Belander was arrested in Oregon on an unrelated matter. RP 45-47, 1014-1016. Skamania County detectives Buettner and Schultz went to Oregon to interview him. RP 45-

47, 1014-1016. During their entire conversation, the officers never asked Mr. Belander if he knew Bodle or mention Bodle's death, and didn't explain the subject of their investigation. Ex 36, 37; RP 1338-1339.

Mr. Belander was in custody. RP 45; Ex. 36, 37. The officers conducted two recorded interviews, with a 15-minute break between them. Ex. 36, 37; RP 53. During the break, the recorder was turned off and the officers left the room. Ex. 36, 37; RP 53.

In neither recording did the officers note the start or end times of the interview. Ex. 36, 37. Nor did either recording include explicit consent to being recorded. Ex. 36, 37.

The recording of the second interview did not include advice of the right to remain silent or the right to counsel.<sup>2</sup> Ex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Schultz claimed that he got permission to record before turning on the recorder but could not remember what was said. RP 67. Buettner did not recall if Mr. Belander consented. RP 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The first recording did begin with an advice of rights. Ex. 36.

37. The recording of the second interview did not include any indication that it was being recorded.<sup>3</sup> Ex. 37.

At the conclusion of the second interview, Mr. Belander asserted his right to remain silent and his right to counsel. Supp RP 39; Ex. 37. The officers continued asking questions. Ex. 37.

Mr. Belander was charged and convicted of first-degree premeditated murder and second-degree arson.<sup>4</sup> CP 348-352, 396-404.

At trial, the prosecutor introduced a redacted version of Mr. Belander's recorded interviews. RP 1025-1027. Defense counsel did not object. At the end of the recording, the jury heard Mr. Belander say "Look, I'm not answering hard questions." Supp. RP 39. When asked if the preceding question was "a hard one," Mr. Belander replied

No, it's not a hard one. It's just like I'm tired of dealing with all this bullsh\*t. Supp. RP 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The first interview began with the statement "recorder's on." Ex. 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Following the Court of Appeals' decision, none of the other alternatives for the homicide are at issue in this petition.

Although the redacted recording ended at that point, Mr. Belander's last remark was the start of a longer sentence that read in full "It's just like, I'm tired of dealing with all this bullsh\*t, so like, if you want to talk to me, you can talk to a lawyer." Ex. 37.

In the recording, the officers spoke with Mr. Belander about his drug use and time in prison. Supp. RP 5, 9-10, 22. Defense counsel did not object to the introduction of this evidence and did not seek to have it redacted from the recording.

In closing arguments, the prosecutor made prominent use of the recorded interviews. He argued that Mr. Belander's statements were circumstantial proof of guilt, even though neither Bodle nor his death were ever broached. RP 1420-1421. He repeatedly emphasized that Mr. Belander's dishonesty relating to his conversations with others that day suggested that he was guilty. RP 1432, 1444, 1476.

During the State's rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor heaped scorn on defense counsel, calling his arguments "ridiculous" four times and labeling them "fanciful

speculation." RP 1472-1473, 1475. The prosecutor referred to the defense as employing "smoke and mirrors". RP 1472-1473. During both parts of closing, the prosecutor said the defense was trying to misdirect jurors, mislead them and confuse them. RP 1441, 1473, 1476. Defense counsel did not object to any of these arguments. RP 1432, 1472-1476.

Following guilty verdicts, Mr. Belander was sentenced to 385 months in prison. RP 1531-1534; CP 474. He timely appealed. CP 483. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion.<sup>5</sup> Opinion, pp. 1-2, 30.

#### **ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

I. THE STATE VIOLATED MR. BELANDER'S FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND HIS FIFTH
AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION.

After receiving *Miranda*<sup>6</sup> warnings and giving a statement, Mr. Belander invoked his right to remain silent and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The court reversed a felony murder charge for insufficient evidence and remanded the case for the trial court to reconsider its imposition of supervision fees. Opinion, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

his right to counsel. At trial, the State introduced a recording implying that Mr. Belander cut off questioning. This violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and his Fifth Amendment rights to counsel and to remain silent.

A. The State introduced evidence that Mr. Belander cut off questioning during a police interview.

The Fifth Amendment guarantees an accused person the right to remain silent. U.S. Const. Amend. V. The right is liberally construed. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 236, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). To protect the privilege against self-incrimination, an accused person has a Fifth Amendment right to counsel during custodial interrogation. *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 482, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981).

Direct comments on an accused person's decision to end questioning are always constitutional error. *State v. Holmes*, 122 Wn.App. 438, 445, 93 P.3d 212 (2004) (citing *State v. Romero*, 113 Wn.App. 779, 790, 54 P.3d 1255 (2002)). Such comments violate the Fifth Amendment and the person's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.; Doyle v.* 

Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 611, 96 S. Ct. 2240, 49 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1976).

Testimony is prohibited if it "directed the jury's attention to protected silence." *Holmes*, 122 Wn.App. at 445. The constitution is violated even if the prosecuting attorney does not exploit the improper comment during closing argument. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Silva*, 119 Wn.App. 422, 428, 81 P.3d 889 (2003).

Here, the State directly violated Mr. Belander's right to remain silent. Supp. RP 39. The last thing jurors heard was Mr. Belander's refusal to answer "hard questions" followed by his statement "I'm tired of dealing with all this bullsh\*t," which marked the end of the recording. Supp. RP 39.

The unmistakable implication of this evidence is that Mr. Belander ended the interview by cutting off questioning. Taken as a whole, Mr. Belander's statements unambiguously establish that he did not wish to continue speaking to officers. This statement was part of his assertion of his right to counsel and cannot be separated from that assertion.

The evidence was introduced without any limitation during the State's case in chief. RP 1025. It was thus available

for use as substantive evidence of guilt. *See State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 36, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997). The jury was "likely to infer from the testimony that defendant was concealing his guilt" by exercising his constitutional rights. *State v. Roberts*, 296 Minn. 347, 353, 208 N.W.2d 744 (1973).

The comment on Mr. Belander's exercise of his constitutional rights violated his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. *Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 236; *see Silva*, 119 Wn.App. at 431. His convictions must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial, with instructions to exclude the evidence. *Silva*, 119 Wn.App. at 431.

B. The constitutional error may be raised for the first time on review and is presumed prejudicial.

An appellate court may review for the first time on appeal a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). The Court of Appeals' conclusion that any violation of Mr. Belander's right to silence was not "manifest" should be overturned.

An error is manifest if "the trial record [is] sufficient to determine the merits of the claim." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756, 761 (2009), *as corrected* (Jan. 21, 2010). By contrast, "[i]f the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record... the error is not manifest." *Id.*, at 99 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The focus "must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." *Id.* 

The test involves the sufficiency of the record rather than the strength of the argument, ensuring that the manifest error standard remains separate from any discussion of harmless error. *Id.* A manifest constitutional error "may still be subject to a harmless error analysis." *Id.*, at 98. But in their Opinion, instead of focusing on whether necessary facts appeared in the record, the Court burdened Mr. Belander with proving that the error prejudiced him. Opinion, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Supreme Court has settled on a formulation that focuses on the information available to the trial court: an error is manifest if, "given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." Id., at 100.

This is understandable because the Supreme Court has equated the question of whether or not "the trial record [is] sufficient to determine the merits of the claim" with the phrase "actual prejudice." *Id.*, at 99. But the phrase "actual prejudice" is misleading because it erroneously suggests that the standard involves the *impact* of the error.

The Court of Appeals erroneously focused on the impact of the error, rather than the sufficiency of the record. Opinion, p. 17. Under this approach, only winning issues would ever be reviewed under the manifest error standard. This is inconsistent the court's explanation of the standard. Under *O'Hara*, a court first determines if all necessary facts appear in the record. *Id.* If so, the error is manifest and can be analyzed on its merits. A harmless error analysis—the impact of the error—only occurs "after the court determines the error is a manifest constitutional error." *Id.* 

Here, the necessary facts supporting the error appear in the record. *Id*. This means that the error is manifest, and review is appropriate under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *Id*.

Constitutional violations are presumed prejudicial. *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 382, 325 P.3d 159 (2014). The State must show beyond a reasonable doubt "that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result with or without the error." *Silva*, 119 Wn.App. at 431.

The State has not made this showing. There were no eyewitnesses nor confessions to the killing, and the circumstantial evidence was ambiguous. A reasonable jury could have acquitted Mr. Belander of any or all charges.

The violation of Mr. Belander's constitutional rights may be reviewed for the first time on review. His convictions must be reversed. *Id*.

# II. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT.

In closing argument, the prosecutor improperly made comments disparaging the role of defense counsel. The misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned, requiring reversal of Mr. Belander's convictions.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d

673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, §22. A conviction must be reversed where the misconduct prejudices the accused. *Id*.

Reviewing courts examine the cumulative effect of improper conduct. *Id.*, at 707-12. Prosecutorial misconduct may require reversal even where ample evidence supports the jury's verdict. *Id.*, at 711-12. The focus of the reviewing court's inquiry "must be on the misconduct and its impact, not on the evidence that was properly admitted." *Id.*, at 711.

Absent objection, reversal is required when misconduct is "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." *Id.*, at 704. Here, the prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct requiring reversal of Mr. Belander's convictions.

There is a risk that jurors will lend it special weight because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706. Misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial, especially during rebuttal. *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 443, 326 P.3d 125 (2014).

A prosecutor commits misconduct by "impugn[ing] the role or integrity of defense counsel." *Id.*, at 431–32. Such arguments are impermissible because they "can severely damage an accused's opportunity to present his or her case." *Id.*, at 432. Such comments "are only intended ultimately to impute guilt to the accused." *Bruno v. Rushen*, 721 F.2d 1193, 1195 (9th Cir. 1983).

In *Lindsay*, for example, the prosecutor told jurors that defense counsel's argument was "a crock." *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 433. This impugned counsel's integrity because it implied "deception and dishonesty." *Id*.

Also improper are arguments "referring to [defense counsel's] presentation of his case as 'bogus' and involving 'sleight of hand." *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 451–52, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). These comments go "beyond the bounds of acceptable behavior." *Id.*, at 452.

Here, the prosecutor repeatedly impugned defense counsel's integrity. The prosecutor told jurors that Mr.

Belander's attorney was "trying to confuse you" with "smoke

and mirrors." RP 1473. He later reiterated that the attorney was "just trying to mislead you." RP 1476.

Addressing defense counsel's criticism of the State's DNA testing, the prosecutor argued that "[i]t'd be ridiculous, try to test those things, and [defense counsel] knows it...

[W]hat they're saying is, look over here; don't look at the actual evidence." RP 1473.

These arguments "implie[d] deception and dishonesty" on the part of defense counsel. *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 433. They are at least as bad as the misconduct at issue in *Lindsay* and *Thorgerson*.

The remarks were not confined to a single instance; instead, the prosecutor impugned counsel's integrity several times. RP 1472-1473, 1476. The misconduct was especially prejudicial because it "occurred during [the prosecutor's] rebuttal argument and therefore were the last words from an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also RP 1472 ("Mr. Lanz gave you an alternate theory, that is ridiculous.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also RP 1473 ("Mr. Lanz says, we didn't test anything, that we didn't think would have Mr. Belander's DNA on it, which is ridiculous.")

attorney that were heard by the jury before deliberations." *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 443 (quoting *United States v. Carter*, 236 F.3d 777, 788 (6th Cir. 2001)).

The misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned. The *Lindsay* and *Thorgerson* decisions "were available to the prosecutor and clearly warned against the conduct here." *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 707. The prohibition against disparaging defense counsel is "so fundamental that all attorneys are [presumed] cognizant of it." *Bruno*, 721 F.2d at 1195.

In addition, an instruction would not have cured the prejudice caused by repeated efforts to impugn counsel's integrity. *Id.* This is especially true given the ambiguity of the evidence.

The State's proof was consistent with a charge of rendering criminal assistance. It did not firmly establish that Mr. Belander was a participant in the murder. The evidence supported the theory that he was present but did no more than help dispose of the body after the killing transpired.

The cumulative effect of the prosecutor's improper arguments prejudiced the defense. *Id.*, at 707-712. The misconduct deprived Mr. Belander of his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial. *Id.*, at 703-704. His convictions must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id.* 

# III. MR. BELANDER WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Defense counsel did not object to the introduction of two recordings obtained in violation of the Privacy Act. Because he was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel, Mr. Belander's convictions must be reversed.

An accused person is guaranteed the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. Amend. VI and XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §22; *State v. Classen*, 4 Wn.App.2d 520, 422 P.3d 489 (2018). A person claiming ineffective assistance must show deficient performance resulting in prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); *see also State v. A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d 91, 109, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). An ineffective assistance claim presents a

mixed question of law and fact, reviewed *de novo*. *State v*. *Drath*, 7 Wn.App.2d 255, 266, 431 P.3d 1098 (2018).

To obtain relief on an ineffective assistance claim, a defendant must show "that (1) his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, if so, (2) that counsel's poor work prejudiced him." *A.N.J.*, 168 Wn.2d at 109; *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Prejudice is established when "there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." *State v. Lopez*, 190 Wn.2d 104, 116, 410 P.3d 1117 (2018) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). This standard is less than a preponderance; it requires only a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id*.

Defense counsel provides deficient performance by failing to object to inadmissible evidence absent a valid strategic reason. *State v. Crow*, 8 Wn.App.2d 480, 508, 438 P.3d 541, *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1038, 449 P.3d 664 (2019). Reversal is required if an objection would likely have

been sustained and the result of the trial would have been different without the inadmissible evidence. *Id.*, at 508-509.

A. Defense counsel failed to raise a Privacy Act objection to the two recorded statements.

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