FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/29/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1009402

STATE OF WASHINGTON

V.

DAMIAN BRADLEY BELANDER

PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS (DIVISION II)

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM NATHANIEL KICK Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney

YARDEN F. WEIDENFELD Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Skamania County Prosecuting Attorney P.O Box 790 240 N.W. Vancouver Ave. Stevenson, Washington 98648

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

III. ARGUMENT

NO SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL LEGAL QUESTIONS OR ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL INTEREST TO THE PUBLIC THAT THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD DETERMINE ARE PRESENTED BY THIS CASE.

The Supreme Court only accepts review under four circumstances, including "[i]f a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved" and "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Belander argues that these two grounds apply to the

issues he wants the Supreme Court to review. Brief of Petitioner at 28-30. However, neither of these grounds are presented by this case.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THAT THE ADMISSION OF A REDACTED RECORDING OF BELANDER'S CUSTODIAL INTERVIEW DID NOT CONSTITUTE "MANIFEST ERROR AFFECTING A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT" UNDER RAP 2.5(A)(3).

Since Belander did not object in the trial court that the admission of the recording of his custodial interview constituted a comment on his Constitutional rights, the Court of Appeals properly analyzed whether this issue could be reviewed by asking whether it involves a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right," RAP 2.5(a)(3). Opinion at 16. Finding "no manifest constitutional violation," the Court of Appeals declined to review this issue. *Id.* at 17.

Belander argues that that this holding was in error.

Brief of Petitioner at 9-12.

i. TECHNICALLY, NO CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION IS RAISED.

In determining that the admission of the recording of Belander's custodial interview did not involve a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right," RAP 2.5(a)(3), the Court of Appeals was interpreting a court rule, not the Constitution. Therefore, no Constitutional question is involved, and review by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(3) would be inappropriate.

ii. THE CASE LAW ON MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR IS NOT UNCLEAR.

Belander argues not only that the Court of Appeals misapplied the case law on manifest Constitutional error, Brief of Petitioner at 9-10, but also that "[t]his is understandable" because the case law is itself "misleading", *Id.* at 11. However, the case law is clear.

Both the Court of Appeals and Belander focus on State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

Opinion at 16-17; Brief of Petitioner at 10-11.

Belander argues that "[t]he test [for manifest error] involves the sufficiency of the record rather than the strength of the argument," but that *O'Hara* "is misleading because it erroneously suggests that the standard involves the *impact* of the error" by "equat[ing] the question of whether or not 'the trial record [is] sufficient to determine the merits of the claim' with the phrase 'actual prejudice.'" Brief of Petitioner at 10-11 (quoting *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99, 217 P.3d at 761)(emphasis in original brief).

However, the Supreme Court clearly lays out first that ""[m]anifest" in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice." *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99, 217 P.3d at 761 (quoting *State v. Kirkman,* 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)(citing *State v. Walsh,* 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 (2001); *State v. McFarland,* 127 Wn.2d 322, 333–34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995))).

Then, the Supreme Court explains that "[t]o demonstrate actual prejudice, there must be a "plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and *identifiable* consequences in the trial of the case."" *Id.* (quoting *Kirkman,* 159 Wn.2d at 935, 155 P.3d 125 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. WWJ Corp.,* 138 Wn.2d 595, 603, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999))) (emphasis added by this writer).

Finally, and only in defining the term *identifiable*, the Supreme Court explains that "[i]n determining whether the error was *identifiable*, the trial record must be sufficient to determine the merits of the claim." *Id.* (citations omitted)(emphasis added by this author).

Belander correctly quotes the way in which the Supreme Court distinguishes the manifest error standard from the harmless error standard, i.e., by explaining that for manifest error, "the focus of the actual prejudice must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that

the error warrants appellate review." *Id.* at 99-100, 217

P.3d at 761 (quoted in Brief of Petitioner at 10). However, the Supreme Court further explains that

[t]his distinction also comports with the common legal definition of "manifest error": "[a]n error that is plain and indisputable, and that amounts to a complete disregard of the controlling law or the credible evidence in the record." [citation omitted] "Manifest constitutional error" is defined as "[a]n error by the trial court that has an identifiably negative impact on the trial to such a degree that the constitutional rights of a party are compromised." [citation omitted]

Id. at 100, 217 P.3d at 761 (footnote 1)(quoting BLACK'SLAW DICTIONARY 622 (9th ed.2009)).

This law is crystal clear and does not require further review.

iii. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED THE LAW CONCERNING MANIFEST ERROR.

Belander argues that the Court of Appeals, "instead of focusing on whether necessary facts appeared in the record, . . . burdened Mr. Belander with proving that the

error prejudiced him." Brief of Petitioner at 10. "The Court of Appeals erroneously focused on the impact of the error," Belander continues, "rather than the sufficiency of the record." *Id.* at 11. Belander concludes that since "the necessary facts supporting the error appear in the record. . . [t]his means that the error is manifest, and review is appropriate under RAP 2.5(a)(3)." *Id.*

But it is actually Belander who is mis-stating the law here. The question is "whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review."

O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100, 217 P.3d at 761. Is it "'[a]n error that is plain and indisputable, and that amounts to a complete disregard of the controlling law or the credible evidence in the record."? *Id.* at 100, 217 P.3d at 761

(footnote 1)(quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 622).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Belander had not demonstrated any such obvious error by the admission of his custodial interview ending with his

refusal to answer "hard questions", his denial that the just-asked question was "a hard one", and finally, "It's just like I'm tired of dealing with all this bullsh*t." Opinion at Page 17 (quoting SRP 39).

By way of comparison, had the jury heard the complete interview, including Belander's indication that the law enforcement officers could speak with his lawyer, that would be the sort of obvious error contemplated by the case law to constitute manifest error. But as it is, it is very ambiguous and thus not manifest error.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THAT THREE STATEMENTS MADE CLOSELY IN TIME BY THE PROSECUTOR DURING HIS REBUTTAL ARGUMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE MISCONDUCT THAT WAS SO FLAGRANT AND ILL-INTENTIONED SUCH THAT AN INSTRUCTION COULD NOT HAVE CURED ANY RESULTING PREJUDICE.

"Because Belander did not object to any of the prosecutor's arguments that he now alleges are improper," the Court of Appeals properly ruled, "he 'is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's

misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." Opinion at 18 (quoting *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)). Finding no such misconduct, the Court held that Belander had waived this argument by not objecting at trial. *Id.* at 20-22.

Belander argues that the prosecutor's comments "improperly . . . disparag[ed] the role of defense counsel" and that "[t]he misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned, requiring reversal of Mr. Belander's convictions." Brief of Petitioner at 12. He cites *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) and *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011), Brief of Petitioner at 13-16, and concludes that his prosecutor's arguments were "at least as bad as the misconduct at issue in [those cases]." *Id.* at 15.

The Court of Appeals also examined *Lindsay* and *Thorgerson* on this point:

In Lindsay, our Supreme Court concluded that, among the numerous rude and self-serving exchanges between counsel that permeated the record, one statement by the prosecutor impugned defense counsel: "This is a crock. What you've been pitched for the last four hours is a crock." [citation omitted] The court reasoned that describing defense counsel's argument as a "crock" impugned defense counsel's integrity because it implied that defense counsel was deceptive and dishonest. [citation omitted]

Similarly, in *Thorgerson*, our Supreme Court concluded that the prosecutor impugned defense counsel's integrity by referring to his presentation of the case as "bogus" and involving "sleight of hand." [citation omitted] The court reasoned that the prosecutor went beyond the bounds of acceptable behavior in disparaging defense counsel because their comments implied wrongful deception or even dishonesty in the context of a court proceeding. [citation omitted]

Opinion at 20-21 (quoting and citing *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 433-34, 326 P.3d 125 and *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 451-52, 258 P.3d 43).

However, as the Court of Appeals pointed out,

"Thorgerson turned on the defendant's failure to object:

the court held that 'a curative instruction would have alleviated any prejudicial effect of this poorly thought out attack on defense counsel's strategy." *Id.* at 21 (quoting *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 452, 258 P.3d 43). On the other hand, *Lindsay* was not decided on the flagrant and ill-intentioned standard because "defense counsel made a motion for a mistrial due to prosecutorial misconduct directly following the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument, citing many of the same examples that are raised on appeal," thereby preserving the issue for appellate review, 180 Wn.2d at 430-431, 326 P.3d at 129.1

In any case, the Court of Appeals properly applied these two precedents to Belander's case and found that "[u]nlike *Lindsay*, here, there were not multiple, pervasive instances of misconduct throughout the trial; the alleged

¹ The Court of Appeals did add in dicta that "[e]ven under the more stringent standard for determining prejudice, the

misconduct occurred only in closing argument," but that "[l]ike *Thorgerson*, even if the prosecutor improperly impugned defense counsel, . . . a curative instruction would have alleviated any prejudicial effect of the prosecutor's attack on defense counsel's strategy."

Opinion at 22.

Belander inappropriately argues that it is "especially true given the ambiguity of the evidence" that "an instruction would not have cured the prejudice." Brief of Petitioner at Page 16. First of all, the evidence was not ambiguous. "[T]here is an overwhelming amount of untainted evidence that supports the jury's finding of guilty." Opinion at 29.

Secondly, the question of whether an instruction would have cured any prejudice is entirely separate from the question of sufficiency of the evidence. As Belander himself notes, "[p]rosecutorial misconduct may require

results would be the same." Id. at 443, 326 P.3d at 135.

reversal even where ample evidence supports the jury's verdict. [citation omitted] The focus of the reviewing court's inquiry 'must be on the misconduct and its impact, not on the evidence that was properly admitted." Brief of Petitioner at Page 13 (citing and quoting *In re Glassman*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 711-712, 286 P.3d 673). "[D]eciding whether reversal is required is not a matter of whether there is sufficient evidence to justify upholding the verdicts." *Glassman*, 175 Wn.2d at 711, 286 P.3d at 681.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THAT BELANDER'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE WHEN FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF A RECORDED CUSTODIAL INTERVIEW AS VIOLATIVE OF THE WASHINGTON PRIVACY ACT AND AS CONTAINING ALLEGEDLY IRRELEVANT AND PREJUDICIAL MATERIAL.

The Court of Appeals rejected Belander's argument that he was denied effective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel did not object to the admission of his custodial interview in whole as violative of the Washington Privacy Act and/or in part as containing irrelevant and

prejudicial material. Opinion at Pages 25-29. Belander argues that the Court of Appeals was in error on this point, Brief of Petitioner at Pages 17-27.

i. THE COURT OF APPEALS INCORRECTLY FINDS THAT THE TRIAL COURT WOULD LIKELY HAVE SUSTAINED AN OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF THE RECORDING OF BELANDER'S INTERVIEW.

As the Court of Appeals correctly states, "[w]hen the defendant bases his ineffective assistance of counsel claim on defense counsel's failure to object, the defendant must show that the objection would have succeeded." Opinion at 25-26 (citing *State v. Gerdts*, 136 Wn. App. 720, 727, 150 P.3d 627 (2007)).

However, the Court of Appeals incorrectly holds that the trial court would likely have sustained an objection to the admission of Belander's custodial interview since both parts of it violated the Washington Privacy Act by not beginning and ending with a statement of the time. *Id.* at Pages 26-27 (citing RCW 9.73.090(1)(b)(ii)). These are

technical violations that have been excused by our courts. *State v. Rupe*, 101 Wn.2d 664, 685, 683 P.2d 571, 585 (1984), *habeas corpus granted on other grounds*, *Rupe v. Wood*, 863 F.Supp. 1315 (W.D. Wash. 1994)(no starting time); *State v. Gelvin*, 43 Wn. App. 691, 695-696, 719 P.2d 580, 582-583 (1986) (no ending time).²

Thus, an objection to the recording's admission would *not* necessarily have been sustained.

Belander analyzes his interview as two separate interviews because of the 10-15 minute break taken in the middle and thus finds additional violations of the Washington Privacy Act in the second half. Brief of Petitioner at 21-22. However, these recordings should be analyzed as one continuous interview. See Rupe, 101 Wn.2d at 684-685, 683 P.2d at 585 (two interrogations

² Gelvin actually involved the admission of testimony of officers regarding contents of a video tape which had been suppressed, where the State did not contest the suppression of the tape.

conducted by two different officers with one-minute time gap treated as one statement for purposes of Privacy Act).

ii. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY RULED THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE ADMISSION OF BELANDER'S RECORDED CUSTODIAL STATEMENT WAS NOT DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE.

The Court of Appeals held that "counsel's failure to object to the admission of the custodial interview does not constitute deficient performance because there is a conceivable, legitimate trial tactic explaining counsel's decision" in that "the admission of the custodial interview permitted defense counsel to argue in closing that any guilty conscience Belander had could be explained by the fact that he was involved in a separate criminal matter in Yamhill County—not about Bodle's death." Opinion at 27.

Belander takes issue with this holding, arguing first that "a claim of strategy must be supported by evidence that counsel was actually pursuing the alleged strategy"

and that there was no such evidence in this case. Brief of Petitioner at 26-27 (citing *State v. Hendricksen*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78-79, 917 P.2d 563 (1996), *overruled on other grounds, Carey v. Musladin*, 549 U.S. 70, 127 S. Ct. 649, 166 L.Ed.2d 482 (2006)).

However, more recently, the State Supreme Court has established that there is no need to show trial counsel was actually using a particular strategy to defeat a claim of deficient performance. "'When counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, performance is not deficient." State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260, 1268-1269 (2011)(quoting State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 863, 215 P.3d 177 (2009))(cited in Opinion at 27). The burden is actually on the petitioner, who "can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance by demonstrating that 'there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance," Id. at 33, 246 P.3d at 1269 (quoting State

v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)).

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